FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/12/2020 3:23 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/13/2020 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

98274-1

No. 79676-3-I

# DIVISION I, COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WEST BEACH CONDOMINIUM, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Appellant

v.

COMMONWEALTH INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, a foreign insurance company,

Respondent

# RESPONDENT COMMONWEALTH INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

Stephania Denton, WSBA No. 21920 LANE POWELL PC 1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 4200 P.O. Box 91302 Seattle, WA 98111-9402 Telephone: 206.223.7000

Attorneys for Petitioner Commonwealth Insurance Company of America

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE				
V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED6				
A.	Extra-Contractual Claims Cannot be Based on an Insurer's Refusal to Pay a Time-Barred Claim	7		
В.	Commonwealth's Denial of Coverage Based on the Suit Limitation Clause Was Reasonable as a Matter of Law Based on Existing Washington and Federal Case Law	13		
VI. CONCLUSION				

#### **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

Page(s)

Cases 160 Lee Street Condo. Homeowners' Ass'n v. Mid-Century 2018 WL 1994059 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 27, 2018)......14 Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 998 P.2d 856 (2000)......8 American Home Assur. Co. v. Cohen, 124 Wn.2d 865, 881 P.2d 1001 (1994)......12 Ashburn v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am., 42 Wn. App. 692, 713 P.2d 742 (1986)......8 B.S.C. Holding, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co., 625 Fed. App'x 906 (10th Cir. 2015) ......8 Coventry Assocs. v. Am. States Ins. Co., 136 Wn.2d 269, 961 P.2d 933 (1998)......1, 10, 11, 12 Farnes v. Metro. Grp. Prop. and Cas. Ins. Co., Hampton v. Allstate Corp., 2014 WL 1569239 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 18, 2014)......10, 14, 16 Hefner v. Great Am. Ins. Co., 126 Wash. 390, 218 Pac. 206 (1923)......8 Herman v. Valley Ins. Co., 928 P.2d 985 (Or. App. 1996)......8 Hunter v. Regence BlueShield, 2006 WL 2396643 (Wn. App. Aug. 21, 2006) .......9, 14, 16 Johnson v. Phoenix Assurance Co., 70 Wn.2d 726, 425 P.2d 1 (1967).....8

Lakewood Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. Cont'l Cas. Co., 2018 WL 9439866 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 12, 2018)10, 16
Leingang v. Pierce Co. Med. Bur., 131 Wn.2d 133, 930 P.2d 288 (1997)13, 14, 16
Nw. Mut. Life Ins. Co. v. Koch, 424 Fed. App'x 621 (9th Cir. 2011)
O'Neill v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 124 Wn. App. 516, 125 P.3d 134 (2004)9
Overton v. Consol. Ins. Co., 145 Wn.2d 417, 38 P.3d 322 (2002)
Perry v. Island Sav. and Loan Ass'n, 101 Wn.2d 795, 684 P.2d 1281 (1984)14
Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 187 Wn.2d 669, 389 P.3d 476 (2017)13
Safeco v. Butler, 118 Wn.2d 383 (1982)11
Schaeffer v. Farmers Ins. Exch., 2002 WL 662889 (Wn. App. Apr. 22, 2002)9, 14, 16
Simms v. Allstate Ins. Co., 27 Wn. App. 872, 621 P.2d 155 (1980)
Smyth v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 2005 WL 2656993 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 18, 2005)10, 11, 12, 14
Yancey v. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford, 2012 WL 12878687 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 23, 2012)10, 12, 15, 16
Statutes
Consumer Protection Act
Insurance Fair Conduct Act
RCW 48.18.200(1)(c)8

RCW 48.30.015(1)13			
Washington Consumer Protection Act			
Other Authorities			
Civil Rule 12(b)(6)			
RAP 13.4(b)(1)			
RAP 13.4(b)(2)			
RAP 23.4(b)(4)			
WAC 284.20.01013			
Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes, § 9:3 (6th ed. 2013)8, 9			

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Commonwealth Insurance Company of America ("Commonwealth") respectfully asks this Court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' January 13, 2020 published opinion. The opinion acknowledges that one-year suit limitation clauses in insurance policies are approved by the Legislature and enforceable in Washington, but then creates a loophole that makes them unenforceable in every case. In particular, the Court held that an insurer's decision to deny a claim because it is time-barred under a suit limitation clause can alone violate Washington law because the "obligation" to pay the time-barred claim still exists even though it cannot be enforced through a breach of contract claim. The Court of Appeals' opinion then allows the insured to capitalize on this loophole by recovering the otherwise unavailable policy proceeds as "damages" on extra-contractual claims. This case presents the issue cleanly for review because West Beach does not dispute that its coverage claim was time-barred before it was even tendered to Commonwealth, and it claimed no damages other than loss of whatever coverage might have existed under the policy.

The Court of Appeals' opinion is erroneous and merits review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2) and (b)(4) for two reasons. First, suit limitation periods in insurance policies are expressly permitted by the Washington Legislature and have been upheld and enforced by this Court for more than 100 years. Also, in *Coventry Assocs. v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 269, 961 P.2d 933 (1998), this Court specifically held that

outside the duty-to-defend context where special considerations apply, insureds cannot do what the Court of Appeals allowed here — use extracontractual claims to recover breach-of-policy damages when there is no causal connection between the insurer's allegedly wrongful conduct and the late tender. The Court of Appeals' opinion undermines both rules, contradicts prior case law and public policy, and impermissibly permits insureds to sidestep enforceable suit limitation clauses.

Second, it is settled Washington law that insurers act reasonably and in good faith when they act on an arguable interpretation of existing law, even if ultimately incorrect. When Commonwealth denied West Beach's time-barred claim in 2017, no court had found an insurer acted unreasonably or in bad faith for refusing to pay a time-barred claim based on a suit limitation clause; rather, several courts had held that such clauses do bar insureds from pursuing extra-contractual claims for breach-of-policy damages. Thus, even if this Court agrees that Commonwealth incorrectly denied coverage, the Court of Appeals still erred by not concluding that Commonwealth acted reasonably as a matter of law.

#### II. COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

The Court of Appeals issued its Published Opinion on January 13, 2020, and its Order Denying Motion for Reconsideration on February 11, 2020. Copies of the Opinion and Order are attached as an Appendix.

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Is an insured foreclosed from pursuing extra-contractual claims under the Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") or Insurance Fair

Conduct Act ("IFCA") to recover benefits allegedly due under a first-party insurance policy when (a) the insured's coverage claim was properly dismissed as untimely under an enforceable suit limitation clause, and (b) the insured asserts no wrongful conduct by the insurer other than reliance on the suit limitation clause and no damages other than the loss of benefits allegedly due under the insurance policy? **Yes.** 

2. Even if an insured can bring extra-contractual claims to recover breach-of-policy damages otherwise foreclosed by a suit limitation clause, did Commonwealth act reasonably as a matter of law when it relied on a justifiable interpretation of existing federal and state case law to deny coverage on the basis of the suit limitation clause? **Yes.** 

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The West Beach Condominiums, located on the Puget Sound waterfront south of the Fauntleroy Ferry Terminal, were built in the late 1960s. Due to poor construction, inadequate maintenance, wear and tear, and continual exposure to Seattle-area weather as well as the wind and salt spray coming off Puget Sound, the four buildings in the complex deteriorated over time. CP 305-310. Commonwealth issued West Beach two first-party property insurance policies, effective September 1, 2010 to September 1, 2012. CP 105, 184.

By 2001, West Beach recognized that its wood buildings "[r]equire a lot of maintenance" and because of their age, type of construction, and proximity to salt water, "the wood and metal portions of the buildings are vulnerable to water damage, rot and rust." CP 305-306. From 2004 to

2008, West Beach reconstructed the envelopes of two of its four buildings to address moisture intrusion. CP 309-310. West Beach did not submit insurance claims for this work.

In 2015, West Beach hired a contractor to conduct a condition assessment and intrusive investigation (*i.e.*, removing siding in sample locations to inspect the structure behind) of a third building that had not yet been repaired. CP 312-317. The contractor conducted its investigation in early August 2015, and on September 8, 2015, presented its findings to West Beach's Board of Directors in the form of a 100-slide PowerPoint presentation including dozens of photos documenting the deteriorated condition of the building and need for repairs. CP 325-458.

More than one year later, on September 26, 2016, West Beach first notified Commonwealth of its claim for coverage. The claimed "damage," was based on the repairs that West Beach's contractor described more than one year earlier in the September 8, 2015 report. CP 459-460.

Unbeknownst to Commonwealth, West Beach had filed a lawsuit on

September 23, 2016, three days before submitting a claim to Commonwealth. CP 3.

The Commonwealth policies each contain a one-year suit limitation clause stating:

No suit, action or proceeding for the recovery of any claim under this Policy shall be sustainable in any court of law or equity unless the same be commenced within Twelve (12) months next after discovery by the Insured of the occurrence which gives rise to the claim . . . .

CP 177, 264.

After conducting a thorough investigation, Commonwealth denied coverage based on the policies' one-year suit limitation provisions as well as other grounds. CP 465-477.

West Beach then filed a second lawsuit<sup>2</sup> asserting claims for breach-of-policy, bad faith, and violations of the CPA and IFCA. CP 13-15. Following discovery, Commonwealth moved for summary judgment based on expiration of the policies' one-year suit limitation periods. CP 304-324. The trial court granted the motion and dismissed West Beach's breach-of-policy claim since the undisputed evidence established that West Beach discovered the occurrence giving rise to its coverage claim more than one year before filing suit. CP 19. West Beach has not appealed this ruling.

Despite dismissal of its breach-of-policy claim, West Beach argued that it could recover the very same contract damages through its extracontractual claims. The parties filed cross-motions asking the trial court to determine whether West Beach's extra-contractual claims were limited to damages West Beach could prove were proximately caused by any alleged bad faith conduct by Commonwealth. CP 32-37. Since West Beach did not

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The other grounds for Commonwealth's denial were: the lack of evidence that the alleged property damage occurred during the 2010-2012 policy periods; the lack of fortuity for damages purportedly caused by weather and aging of the buildings; application of the policies' exclusions for damage "caused by or resulting from ... repairing or faulty design, materials and/or workmanship thereon, unless an insured peril ensues ....;" and application of the policies' exclusions for damage "caused by or resulting from ... wear, tear or gradual deterioration, ... rust or corrosion, wet or dry rot." <sup>2</sup> The original lawsuit was dismissed without prejudice after the parties agreed to toll the policies' limitation period, effective September 22, 2016, to allow Commonwealth time to investigate the claim. CP 4.

claim any damages other than the loss of any coverage under the policy, and Commonwealth did not cause West Beach to allow the suit limitation period to expire, the trial court dismissed West Beach's extra-contractual claims. CP 74-76.

The Court of Appeals reversed and remanded. Recognizing that no Washington court had addressed the issue, and relying on two unpublished federal district court rulings, the court concluded that although expiration of the policies' one-year suit limitation period barred West Beach's ability to sue for breach of contract, it did not "negate coverage" for the time-barred claim. Op. at 10-13. In particular, the court held that "the trial court erred by dismissing West Beach's extra-contractual claims based on the insurance policies' suit limitation clause" and that, on remand, the jury should decide "whether the damage at West Beach's property was caused by covered perils and, if so, whether Commonwealth unreasonably denied coverage and violated IFCA and the CPA by failing to pay for that covered damage." *Id.* at 13, 15-16.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

This Court should accept review, reconcile conflicting case law and resolve issues of substantial public importance. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (b)(2), and (b)(4). Suit limitation clauses like Commonwealth's are authorized by statute and have been repeatedly upheld and enforced by this Court to bar insureds from bringing breach-of-policy actions. This Court also has held that policyholders may sue insurance companies for acting in bad faith — even if there is no coverage for the claim under

consideration when the bad faith conduct occurs. However, except for bad faith conduct committed during a liability insurer's reservation-of-rights defense, this Court carefully limited damages for such bad faith to those proximately caused by the bad faith conduct and rejected the contention that policyholders can use extra-contractual claims to get coverage for non-covered claims. By creating a distinction between claims that are not covered and claims in which the insured is time-barred from suing for coverage, and holding that insurers can commit bad faith solely by not paying such time-barred claims, the Court of Appeals' decision effectively reversed decades of Washington law, and rendered suit limitation clauses and the statute that authorizes them meaningless.

Moreover, this Court has repeatedly held that an insurer's reliance on an "arguable interpretation of existing law" to refuse to pay a claim is reasonable as a matter of law, even if a court later determines that the claim was in fact covered. Here, Commonwealth's 2017 determination not to pay West Beach's time-barred claim was entirely consistent with then-existing case law. Even if this Court were to conclude that the Court of Appeals' opinion is good law, this Court still should accept review and hold that this pronouncement of new law cannot be used to assess Commonwealth's — or any insurer's — conduct in hindsight.

# A. Extra-Contractual Claims Cannot be Based on an Insurer's Refusal to Pay a Time-Barred Claim.

Since at least 1947, the Washington Legislature has expressly authorized insurers issuing first-party policies to contractually shorten the

general breach of contract statute of limitations, so long as the contractual limitation period is at least one year. RCW 48.18.200(1)(c). Such clauses "have been recognized to be legitimate methods by which insurance companies can eliminate uncertainty and cut off stale claims." Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes, § 9:3 (6th ed. 2013); see also B.S.C. Holding, Inc. v. Lexington Ins. Co., 625 Fed. App'x 906, 910 (10th Cir. 2015) (recognizing that suit limitation clauses "enable an insurer to fix its present and future liabilities and to close stale claim files") (quoting Herman v. Valley Ins. Co., 928 P.2d 985, 990 (Or. App. 1996)). "In effect, these statutes authorize property insurers to contract for repose provisions of fairly short duration." Aluminum Co. of Am. v. Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co., 140 Wn.2d 517, 548, 998 P.2d 856 (2000).

Washington courts have repeatedly recognized and upheld the validity of such clauses. *See Ashburn v. Safeco Ins. Co. of Am.*, 42 Wn. App. 692, 713 P.2d 742 (1986); *Johnson v. Phoenix Assurance Co.*, 70 Wn.2d 726, 425 P.2d 1 (1967); *Hefner v. Great Am. Ins. Co.*, 126 Wash. 390, 218 Pac. 206 (1923). And, unlike violation of a prompt notice condition that only precludes coverage if the insurer suffers prejudice, the insured's violation of a suit limitation clause prohibits recovery even without proof of prejudice. *See Simms v. Allstate Ins. Co.*, 27 Wn. App.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> As recognized by this court, suit limitation clauses are "ubiquitous" in first-party policies. *Alcoa*, 140 Wn.2d at 548. These clauses are nearly universally enforced across the United States. *See* Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes, § 9:3 (noting that "[m]ost states have a statute requiring the inclusion of a limitations period in at least certain types of first-party insurance policies" and that "[a]bsent a statute to the contrary, such provisions are, as a general rule, enforceable").

872, 877, 621 P.2d 155 (1980); Windt, Insurance Claims and Disputes, § 9:3 ("[A] breach of the limitations clause will *automatically* result in a loss of coverage.") (emphasis added).

Courts have recognized that suit limitation clauses typically do not apply to extra-contractual claims, which remain subject to statutory limitation periods. *E.g., O'Neill v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash.*, 124 Wn. App. 516, 530, 125 P.3d 134 (2004); *Simms*, 27 Wn. App. at 878. Until now, however, Washington courts — both state and federal — have never allowed an extra-contractual claim to be based solely on an insurer's failure to pay a claim that is not made or sued on until after the expiration of a contractual suit limitation period. Nor has any Washington appellate court allowed an insured to evade a suit limitation clause simply by characterizing the insurance policy benefits it seeks as bad faith damages.

In fact, before the Court of Appeals' decision here, two other Court of Appeals panels held that an insurer's refusal to pay a time-barred claim was not only correct, but also reasonable as a matter of law so as to preclude bad faith claims. *See Schaeffer v. Farmers Ins. Exch.*, 2002 WL 662889, \*5 (Wn. App. Apr. 22, 2002) (The "suit limitation clause precludes the Estate from pursuing its claim that Farmers wrongfully denied coverage."); *Hunter v. Regence BlueShield*, 2006 WL 2396643, \*6 n.5 (Wn. App. Aug. 21, 2006) ("Regence could not have acted in bad faith in imposing an enforceable contractual limitation provision."). And every federal district court to address the issue, including the two cases cited by the Court of Appeals, either dismissed the claims, recognizing that an

insurer does not act wrongfully merely by enforcing a suit limitation provision,<sup>4</sup> or allowed them to proceed only because the insured offered evidence that the insurer had acted in bad faith in some way other than simply failing to pay a time-barred claim.<sup>5</sup>

This Court's decision in *Coventry* compels the result that an insured cannot base extra-contractual claims solely on an insurer's enforcement of a suit limitation provision. In *Coventry*, this Court held that an insurer's duty to act in good faith in handling insurance claims is statutory and can be violated even when the claim under consideration turns out not to be covered by the policy as a matter of contract law. *Coventry*, 136 Wn.2d at 279. Critically, however, an insurer that commits bad faith while handling a claim "is not liable for the policy benefits but, instead, liable for the consequential damages to the insured as a result of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> See Farnes v. Metro. Grp. Prop. and Cas. Ins. Co., 2019 WL 3501447, \*4-6 (W.D. Wash. Jul. 31, 2019) (dismissing bad faith, CPA and IFCA claims because insurer's denial based on a twelve-month suit limitation clause was reasonable and could not be the basis for extra-contractual claims); Hampton v. Allstate Corp., 2014 WL 1569239, \*6 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 18, 2014) (holding that "the policy's suit limitation clause precludes [the insured] from pursuing his claim that Allstate wrongfully denied coverage," "[t]hus, any claim for damages arising out of [the insured's] claim for coverage ... is time-barred, and cannot be revived through his [Washington Consumer Protection Act] claim"); Smyth v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 2005 WL 2656993 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 18, 2005) (dismissing bad faith and CPA claims because the insured's "late service of the complaint would have prevented [it] from recovering damages under their policy"). <sup>5</sup> See Lakewood Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. Cont'l Cas. Co., 2018 WL 9439866 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 12, 2018) & 2019 WL 291661 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 23, 2019) (refusing to dismiss failure to investigate claim on Rule 12(b)(6) motion); Yancey v. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford, 2012 WL 12878687 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 23, 2012) (refusing to dismiss claims against insurer that initially agreed to pay timely-submitted claim, then refused to pay agreed claim after expiration of suit limitation period). In Lakewood Shores, the judge also recognized on reconsideration that the insured's extra-contractual claims could not survive in the absence of damages other than coverage. 2019 WL 291661, \*2 (W.D. Wash. Jan. 23, 2019).

the insurer's breach of its contractual [good faith] and statutory obligations." Such damages include items such as expenses an insured might incur to retain experts or attorneys necessitated by the insurer's inadequate investigation or improper claims handling. *Id.* at 284.<sup>6</sup>

The Court of Appeals distinguished *Coventry* on the ground that the *Coventry* "limitation" applies only in the absence of coverage. Op. at 15-16. According to the Court's reasoning, a suit limitation clause does not "negate" coverage, even though it eliminates the ability to sue for it in a court of law. Thus, the court stated, insureds can recover coverage benefits via IFCA or the CPA by claiming that the insurer acted "unreasonably" in failing to pay a claim that is time-barred by a valid suit limitation clause. *Id*.

As explained below, Commonwealth acted reasonably in denying coverage on this basis given existing law. But more importantly, the Court of Appeals' reasoning misconstrues *Coventry*'s central holding. The *Coventry* damages "limitation" is not premised on the absence of coverage, but on the absence of *causation* between the bad faith conduct and the insured's inability to recover policy benefits. Accordingly, as recognized by the Court in *Smyth*, 2005 WL 2656993, \*4, since an insured's failure to timely file a complaint prevents it from recovering

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> *Coventry* explicitly rejected the invitation to extend the "estoppel to deny coverage" remedy to cases such as this one. Such a remedy was applied in decisions such as *Safeco v. Butler*, 118 Wn.2d 383, 393-94 (1982), to address an insurer's violation of its "heightened duty" of good faith while defending an insured under a third party liability policy, but this Court deemed it excessive and unwarranted when the insurer's heightened defense-related duties are not implicated. *Coventry*, 136 Wn.2d at 282.

damages under the policy, coverage-based damages are not recoverable unless the insurer's wrongful conduct *caused* the insured's noncompliance with the suit limitation clause. Absent a causal connection, an insured's failure to timely file a claim "prevents [it] from recovering under [its] policy or recovering equivalent damages under a bad faith theory." *Id*. <sup>7</sup>

The Court of Appeals' opinion turns the premise of *Coventry* on its head, and would allow a dilatory insured to use extra-contractual claims to make an end-run around a policy's suit limitation clause without any showing that the insurer's bad faith played a role in the insured's failure to file suit within the limitation period. The court's reasoning allows an insured to ignore the suit limitations clause (or the statute of limitations) with impunity knowing that if the insurer disclaims coverage on the ground that the claim is time barred, that denial alone provides the insured the fodder it needs to bring an IFCA or CPA claim and obtain back-door coverage for the time-barred claim in the form of statutory bad faith damages. This outcome renders suit limitation clauses wholly meaningless, and eviscerates the repose they are intended to provide.

If allowed to stand, the Court of Appeals' endorsement of this endrun around suit limitation clauses also violates the public policy of this state, as set forth by the Legislature. *See American Home Assur. Co. v. Cohen*, 124 Wn.2d 865, 875, 881 P.2d 1001 (1994) ("Because public")

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> In *Yancey*, 2012 WL 12878687, the primary case relied upon by the Court of Appeals, the causal connection existed because the insured timely tendered a claim but then refrained from filing suit and allowed the suit limitation period to expire in reliance on the insurer's agreement to pay the claim and continuing to negotiate.

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