FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/13/2020 2:47 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

NO. 98274-1

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

WEST BEACH CONDOMINIUM, a Washington non-profit corporation,

Respondent,

v.

COMMONWEALTH INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA, a foreign insurance company,

Petitioner.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Todd C. Hayes, WSBA No. 26361 Charles K. Davis, WSBA No. 38231

HARPER | HAYES PLLC One Union Square 600 University Street, Suite 2420 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 340-8010

Attorneys for Respondent

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

III. ARGUMENT

A. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION IS NOT CONTRARY TO PUBLIC POLICY

As the Court of Appeals correctly explained, a suit limitation clause is simply a "contractual modification of the statute of limitations." <u>Simms v. Allstate Ins. Co.</u>, 27 Wn. App. 872, 877, 621 P.2d 155 (1980). Thus, the expiration of a contractual limitation period has no effect on the contracting parties' rights or obligations, as opposed to their remedies. *See Lane v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 21 Wn.2d 420, 426, 151 P.2d 440 (1944) ("[A]lthough a remedy may become barred [under a statute of limitation], the right or obligation is not extinguished.").

Moreover, because a suit limitation clause has no effect on a plaintiff's non-contract claims, see Simms, 27 Wn. App. at 878 (suit limitation clause applies to "claims compensable under the contract, not claims arising under an independent statute"), an insured can sue its insurer under extra-contractual theories notwithstanding the expiration of a suit limitation deadline, see, e.g., Keith v. CUNA Mut. Ins. Agency, Inc., 08-01368-RAJ, 2009 WL 1793675, at *6 (W.D. Wash. June 23, 2009). Unpaid policy benefits are recoverable under both the CPA and IFCA. See, e.g., Peoples v. United Services Automobile Ass'n, 194 Wn.2d 771, 779, 452 P.3d 1218 (2019) ("[D]eprivation of contracted-for insurance benefits is an injury to 'business or property.'"); Yancey v. Automobile Ins. Co. of Hartford, C11-1329-RAJ, 2012 WL 12878687, at *9 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 23, 2012) ("actual damages" under IFCA would "include the amount the Policy obligated [the insurer] to pay"). Thus, because the expiration of Commonwealth's limitation period did not mean the Association's claim was no longer "covered," and because the amounts that Commonwealth unreasonably refused to pay are recoverable under the Association's (nontime barred) IFCA and CPA claims, the Court of Appeals correctly determined that the trial court had erroneously dismissed those claims.

Notwithstanding this sound reasoning and its foundation in Washington law, Commonwealth claims this Court should accept review

under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the Court of Appeals' decision supposedly "violates the public policy of this state, as set forth by the Legislature." *Petition* at 12. This is so, Commonwealth argues, because WAC 284-20-010 supposedly "mandates" a one-year suit limitation clause. *See Petition* at 12-13. But the administrative code was not drafted by the Legislature, so it does not represent a policy "set forth by" that body. More importantly, WAC 284-20-010 does not require insurers to include suit limitation clauses in policies. It states that *if* an insurer includes such a clause, then the clause cannot be "less favorable" than the one in the "standard fire" policy referenced in that regulation (*i.e.*, the period cannot be shorter than a year). *See* WAC 284-20-010(3)(c).

Commonwealth also claims that the Court of Appeals' decision creates an improper "loophole" that makes suit limitation clauses "unenforceable in every case." *Petition* at 1. Yet Commonwealth's clause *was* enforced, and precisely as it is written. It prevented the Association from suing on the parties' contract. If Commonwealth wanted the clause to do more—*e.g.*, to also nullify "coverage," or to absolve Commonwealth of any further obligations—then Commonwealth could have written the clause to say that. *Cf.* Lakewood Shores Homeowners Ass'n v. Continental Cas. Co., C18-1353-MJP, 2018 WL 9439866, at *4 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 14, 2018) (if insurers "wished to eliminate coverage for any claim tendered more than

one year after the inception of damage, they certainly could have done so," but "[t]hey did not").

Contrary to Commonwealth's arguments, the Court of Appeals' decision is wholly consistent with Washington public policy. "[T]he specific purpose of IFCA was to provide insureds with *another* legal resource against their insurer for wrongful denials." Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., 187 Wn.2d 669, 679, 389 P.3d 476 (2017) (emphasis added). Likewise, the purpose of the CPA is to protect consumers like the Association from entities like insurers. *See, e.g.*, Miller v. Kenny, 180 Wn. App. 772, 826, 325 P.3d 278 (2014) ("[P]rivate prosecution of Consumer Protection Act violations is backed by public policy. Protecting consumers against the bad faith of insurance companies fulfills the purpose of the statute ").

Commonwealth promised it would pay the Association for covered losses. When the Association submitted a claim for covered damage, Commonwealth refused to pay—because Commonwealth thought the Association couldn't do anything about it. That is precisely the kind of conduct that IFCA and the CPA are intended to remedy. The Court of Appeals' decision is entirely consistent with Washington public policy.

B. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY PUBLISHED COURT OF APPEALS OPINION

Commonwealth next argues that this Court should accept review because the Court of Appeals' decision supposedly conflicts with Hunter v. Regence Blue Shield, 134 Wn. App. 1045 (Aug. 21, 2006), and Schaeffer v. Farmers Ins. Exchange, 111 Wn. App. 1018 (April 22, 2002). See Petition at 9. But both of those (pre-2013) cases are unpublished. Thus, not only should Commonwealth not have cited them, see GR 14.1, a conflict with those cases would not warrant review. See RAP 13.4(b)(2) (review accepted only if decision "is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals) (emphasis added).¹

The decisions are not in conflict anyway. The issue in <u>Hunter</u> was whether the suit limitation clause was even enforceable—not how such a clause might affect an insured's IFCA and CPA claims. *See* <u>Hunter</u>, 2006 WL 2396643, at *5 ("Hunter . . . argue[s] that the [suit limitation] clause is inconspicuous and should not be enforced."). Likewise in <u>Schaeffer</u>, the policyholder simply argued that the suit limitation clause was inapplicable

-

The Federal cases that Commonwealth relies upon are similarly unpublished and non-precedential. *See Petition* at 10 n.4 (citing Farnes v. Metro. Grp. Prop. and Cas. Ins. Co., 2:18-CV-1882-BJR, 2019 WL 3501447 (W.D. Wash. Jul. 31, 2019) (unpublished); Hampton v. Allstate Corp., C13-0541-JLR, 2014 WL 1569239 (W.D. Wash. Apr. 18, 2014) (unpublished); Smyth v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co., C05-838-JLR, 2005 WL 2656993 (W.D. Wash. Oct. 18, 2005) (unpublished).

(because the limitation period had supposedly been tolled). *See* Schaeffer, 2002 WL 662889, at *3 ("The Estate nevertheless argues that its 'appeal tolled the one year contract limitation.'"). In neither case did the insurer refuse to pay a covered loss based on a suit limitation clause, and in neither case did the insured argue that it could recover what the insurer had promised to pay—notwithstanding expiration of a suit limitation clause—under IFCA and the CPA.² Thus, the Court of Appeals' decision does not conflict with any published opinion of the Court of Appeals, and is therefore not reviewable under RAP 13.4(b)(2).

C. THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISION OF THIS COURT

Nor does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with any decision of this Court. *See* RAP 13.4(b)(1) (allowing review "[i]f the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court"). The case that Commonwealth relies upon, <u>Coventry Assocs. v. Am. States Ins.</u>

<u>Co.</u>, 136 Wn.2d 269, 961 P.2d 933 (1998), did not even address IFCA (as opposed to *common law* bad faith), and does not even mention suit limitation clauses. As the Court of Appeals correctly observed, Coventry is

_

To the extent <u>Schaeffer</u> can be read to say that unreasonably-denied insurance benefits are not "injury to business or property" under the CPA, that would improperly contradict this Court's holding in <u>Peoples</u>. *See* <u>Peoples</u>, 194 Wn.2d at 779 ("[T]he deprivation of contracted-for insurance benefits is an injury to 'business or property.'"). As for IFCA, the Legislature had not even enacted it at the time <u>Hunter</u> and Schaffer were decided (IFCA became law in 2007).

irrelevant because the insurance policy in that case did not cover the insured's loss—the policyholder was alleging "bad faith in the investigation of its claim, not bad faith in the denial of coverage." West Beach, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 804-05. Coventry holds that when a property insurance policy does *not* cover a loss, the insured is not entitled to "coverage by estoppel" (as in the liability insurance setting)—so the insured must prove what damages it incurred as a result of the insurer's improper investigation. *See* Coventry, 136 Wn.2d at 284. In other words, Coventry addresses the remedies available when a policy does *not* afford coverage; the case does not address what CPA and IFCA remedies are available when a policy *does* afford coverage—the issue in this case.

Nor does the Court of Appeals' decision conflict with this Court's decisions about what conduct a jury could find "unreasonable." Commonwealth argues that its refusal to pay, even if wrong, was necessarily "reasonable" because no Washington court had yet ruled that Commonwealth could not do what it did. *See Petition* at 14 ("[N]o court had found an insurer to have acted unreasonably solely by not paying a claim that was time-barred under a suit limitation clause."). But as the Court of Appeals pointed out, the suit limitation clause plainly states that the insured is only barred from suing on the contract, not that Commonwealth is absolved of paying covered losses. *See* West Beach, 11 Wn. App. 2d at

803 ("Commonwealth's suit limitation clause says nothing about its underlying coverage obligations."); *see also* Ainsworth v. Progressive Cas.

Ins. Co., 180 Wn. App. 52, 80, 322 P.3d 6 (2014) (interpretation that ignores plain text is not "a reasonable interpretation of the policy"). Likewise, Commonwealth's refusal to pay was not based on some new or uncertain law; it has long been the law that the expiration of a limitation period does not affect parties' rights or obligations. *See, e.g.*, West Beach, 11 Wn. App. 2d at 802 (citing the "*settled law* that the expiration of a statutory limitation period does not extinguish legal obligations; 'it simply deprives the plaintiff of a legal remedy'") (emphasis added).³ Also, the jury in this case might decide that Commonwealth's denial was "unreasonable" for reasons wholly unrelated to the suit limitation clause—*e.g.*, because Commonwealth admitted in its denial letter that the damage was caused by "faulty construction," which the Policies cover. *See* CP 299; CP 9.

Most importantly, this Court has squarely held that an act based upon an "arguable interpretation of existing law" is not in fact good faith/reasonable as a matter of law:

The Court of Appeals correctly noted that "acts performed in *good faith* under an arguable interpretation of existing law do not constitute unfair conduct violative of the consumer protection law." However, we hold it erroneously implied

-

³ See also <u>Lane</u>, 21 Wn.2d 420 (1944 case holding that "although a remedy may become barred [under a statute of limitation], the right or obligation is not extinguished").

that acts under an arguable interpretation of existing law are, as a matter of law, always performed in good faith.

Mulcahy v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Washington, 152 Wn.2d 92, 106, 95 P.3d 313 (2004) (emphasis in original).

IV. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

This Court should deny Commonwealth's Petition for Review. The Court of Appeals' decision was correct, and it does not contradict public policy, a published decision of the Court of Appeals, or a decision of this Court.

DATED this 13th day of April, 2020.

HARPER | HAYES PLLC

Todd C. Hayes, WSBA No. 26361

Charles K. Davis, WSBA No. 38231

Attorneys for Respondent